## PAN AMERICAN HEALTH ORGANIZATION WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION

# SUBCOMMITTEE ON PLANNING AND PROGRAMMING OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

30th Session, 30-31 March 1998

Provisional Agenda Item 8

SPP30/8 (Eng.) 9 February 1998 ORIGINAL: ENGLISH

#### POPULATION AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH

Reproductive health is an area which affects every individual, throughout the life cycle. It is constant at the individual level from the pre-conceptual period through menopause and climacteric. It is intimately related to each person's values, culture, and visions for the future. Its influence is personal and specific at the individual, family, and community levels, and at the level of the population it demands attention for its potential to contribute towards sustainable development. Reproductive health covers not only family planning, as has been erroneously understood by some, but has a much broader scope of action in family life and human development. It includes, in addition to family planning, sexual education, assuring safe motherhood, control of sexually transmitted diseases, care for complications of unsafe abortions, incorporation of a gender perspective, and attention to differing needs related to the reproduction of mankind and its potential.

Promoting and maintaining reproductive health requires quality health services and equity in their availability, distribution, and access. To accomplish this, proactive policies, management structures, and new approaches through research and the development of service models are essential. Success in reproductive health rests on the full participation of each person making informed choices and the development of social responsibility.

PAHO has supported efforts by the countries to seek better reproductive health for their populations for the past 30 years. The present situation of health sector reforms in the Region along with the amplification of the concept of reproductive health presents a unique opportunity to move to change some long-standing health problems related to reproductive health, to examine policy and strategy implications, to suggest changes needed to respond to the actual situation in the countries, and to reaffirm commitments made in international forums. Public authorities, whether or not they are involved in direct service provision, have a responsibility towards guaranteeing reproductive health rights for men, women, adolescents and children, and in assuring quality in services which permit the achievement of reproductive health. Only if governments take concrete actions can the theme be placed on the public agenda and concrete plans of action developed to assure the contribution of this important human aspect towards the well-being of the populations of the Region.

Given this opportunity, the Subcommittee on Planning and Programming is requested to examine the present document, suggest ways in which it could be improved, and advise on further action.

## **CONTENTS**

P	ล	σ	e
_	u	-	•

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	3
1. Introduction	4
2. A Review of the Reproductive Health Situation	5
2.1 Reproductive Health	5
2.2 A Review of Related Health Statistics	7
3. The Role of PAHO	10
4. The Proposal for Change: Expected Results	12
5. Recommendations	12
6. Action Requested of the Subcommittee	13
Bibliography	13

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

The concept of reproductive health is one which has been developing for some time. It was originally understood as referring to those services which were provided for family planning; however, this definition has been transformed several times. It has moved from the biological to consider the affective, the cultural, and the implications of population growth for sustainable development. The present, amplified concept positions reproductive health as an essential part of human development. It is based on human rights and responsibilities, both individual and societal. It encompasses the principles of equity, respect for self-determination, and consideration of human beings as embodying bio-psychosocial integrity, and it incorporates a gender perspective.

On an individual level, reproductive health is a constant during the entire life cycle. It extends through family and community groups and is concerned with the relation of population to the environment and sustainable development. Reproductive health is about people and their relationships, their values, their ethics, and their hopes for the future. There is perhaps no other area in health which touches individuals and societies so profoundly and, because of this, it is often subject to strong debate and different interpretations. Without underestimating such differences, it is clear, however, that many concerns in regards to reproductive health are common to all belief and value systems. These common concerns have important implications for the field of public health. Many urgently need concerted action by all in order to continue progress and to consolidate the gains made during this century.

The present time is a crucial one. The changes implied by the shift in the definition of reproductive health are not superficial. With new expectations, changes are demanded in the way in which we design services, promote healthy lifestyles, and respond to demands to further the reproductive health of the peoples of the Region. In spite of the fact that there have been significant advances on the conceptual level in the past several years, in part stimulated by the public debates around the international conferences, the operational expression of reproductive health as evidenced in the health sector and in other environments such as schools or workplaces is still a beginning process. Policies, services, and community activities will need to be developed to assure reproductive health for all.

Although PAHO's Governing Bodies have adopted resolutions on related themes in recent years, the analysis of the implications of an amplified concept of reproductive health in the light of the health sector reforms occurring in the majority of the countries of the Region offers a particular opportunity to confirm the contribution of reproductive health to in sustainable development and to review progress towards its operationalization. It is proposed that the Subcommittee on Planning and Programming examine the document, suggest improvements, and advise on further action.

#### 1. Introduction

Over the past 25 to 30 years there have been many achievements in the area of reproductive health. To name a few, there have been significant decreases in maternal and infant mortality in the Region; the integral development of the adolescent, including reproductive health, is being addressed in the majority of the countries; schools of health sciences are incorporating related material in their undergraduate and graduate curriculums; various demonstration projects and programs have identified successful strategies for integrating relevant activities into public health services; and information collection has improved to permit better planning, priority determination, and decision-making. The advances, however, are far from universal. There are great disparities among countries of the Region and within each individual country, resulting in unnecessary loss of life and human tragedies and impeding development at all levels from the individual through the global.

Simultaneous with the changes in the definition of reproductive health, there has been increasing interest in examining the economic implications of providing and maintaining health services. As traditional answers are questioned, the process of health sector reform has come face to face with reality in the Region of the Americas. This process has brought with it significant changes, especially in the role of the public sector.

One of the principal changes is the separation of the financial functions from the service provision and regulatory functions of the State (4, 6, 8, 24). The sector reform's basic premises of extending coverage, potentializing efficiency, and stimulating local participation in decisions are consistent with the principles of the new definition of reproductive health. In addition, the recent worldwide effort to renew commitments for the initiative "health for all by the year 2000 and beyond" is a clear mandate and a reminder, faced with the magnitude of changes which the sector reform signifies, of the importance of maintaining the values of the primary health care strategy in the forefront, among them equity, efficiency, and effectiveness with full participation (5, 15, 16, 17, 18). It is now up to those responsible for reproductive health to convert these challenges into opportunities and, in so doing, to demonstrate the contributions of this area to the health and well-being of individuals and families, as well as to sustainable development and the quality of life at the country level.

Human development is the goal towards which both the health sector reforms and the new reproductive health concept are directed. The principles of equity and quality are fundamental to developing a shared vision, strategies, and a plan of action which will catalyze progress (10, 23, 26). The placing of authority closer to the level of operation and the introduction of new actors in health such as NGOs, private groups, and insurance-based firms has the potential for producing creative answers to the development of health services. It can permit the development of new and different responses to chronic problems. However, it also has the potential to be dangerous if the principles of equity and quality assurance are not provided for in the redesign process. The development of health policies and services must respond to the question of equity. The marginalization of individuals, families, and populations for ethnic, economic, and geographical reasons has often impeded access to services for a large

portion of the population, with significant negative impacts. It is estimated that maternal mortality alone could be reduced more than 50% through the provision of quality health services (12, 25). Increasingly, direct results of poor reproductive health have been demanding both resources and attention as the problems of increasing domestic and sexual violence, elevation in teen pregnancies, unsafe abortions with their deadly consequences, and continuation of unacceptably high maternal and infant death rates are observed. The time is right for action.

## 2. A Review of the Reproductive Health Situation

#### 2.1 Reproductive Health

A brief history of the development of the concept of reproductive health will establish the importance of adopting the new perspective. Initially, in the 1960s, the term was coined as a polite way to refer to contraceptive and family planning activities, with the emphasis on the population level. In this reference, the policies and services developed were almost exclusively directed to women of childbearing age. As the feminist movement gained force, the ideas of free choice and access to services—including, in some countries, abortion services—were subsumed into this term. The 1980s brought a shift towards the services elements of reproductive health and an emphasis to maternal and child health services which added family planning as one activity in a range of traditional services for women of childbearing age, concentrating mainly around pregnancy, delivery, and perinatal care. The promotion of health and not just the treatment of disease were given added impetus in all areas of health.

A growing consciousness was seen in the Region that adolescents were an at-risk group for unhealthy sexual and reproductive health behaviors. As that consciousness grew, it became evident that human sexuality and the need for education regarding responsible sexual behavior were important elements to consider in reproductive health services for all age cohorts. Some health policies and services expanded to attempt to meet these identified needs, but their numbers were few. In addition, many of the newer actions were taken on by the non-public sector, limiting access to some sectors of the population. During the 1980s, an insistent voice continued to be heard regarding the demographic and population aspects of reproductive health and sustainable development.

The 1990s have seen a refocusing on the individual with an emphasis on human rights and corresponding responsibilities, including those connected to self-determination, as well as the incorporation of a gender perspective in the development of policies and services.

The promotion of health and of healthy environments has become a public concern. Simultaneously, a growing documentation has confirmed that many of the identified problems and needs requiring public health interventions are closely related to other critical aspects of human development, such as education, nutrition, work, and cultural and economic independence (3, 4, 6, 10, 15, 21, 23). The demographic aspects of population growth have also called attention to the need to provide for the increase in the older population with the implications for health and for service demands as it moves into and through menopause and climacteric.

The ability of the many countries of the world to come to an agreement on the definition of reproductive health was an historic event, occurring in 1994 in the International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD). Using the WHO definition of health as a starting point, reproductive health was defined as:

. . . a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being, and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity, in all matters relating to the reproductive system and to its functions and processes. Reproductive health therefore implies that people are able to have a satisfying and safe sex life and that they have the capability to reproduce and the freedom to decide if, when and how often to do so. Implicit in this last condition is the right of men and women to be informed and to have access to safe, effective, affordable and acceptable methods of family planning of their choice, as well as other methods of their choice for regulation of fertility which are not against the law, and the right of access to appropriate health-care services that will enable women to go safely through pregnancy and childbirth and provide couples with the best chance of having a healthy infant. In line with the above definition of reproductive health, reproductive health care is defined as the constellation of methods, techniques and services that contribute to reproductive health and well-being by preventing and solving reproductive health problems. It also includes sexual health, the purpose of which is the enhancement of life and personal relations, and not merely counselling and care related to reproduction and sexually transmitted diseases (1).

The concept of reproductive health was further developed and again ratified in the international conferences on women and on sustainable development.

Since these advances, PAHO has been working with the countries of the Region to disseminate this amplified definition of reproductive health and to develop corresponding policies and services. It is as a result of this work that a number of concerns have been raised. First, it must be understood that reproductive health is a lifelong process and an integral part of human development. Reproductive health accompanies the life cycle. It begins with preparation before conception for a healthy baby, and assures safe pregnancy, delivery and post partum for the mother, infant, and family. It accompanies the young child as attitudes are developed regarding gender relations, sexual behavior, and reproduction; the adolescent as knowledge and attitudes are consolidated into practices and protection sought from sexually transmitted diseases; and the adult in the development of family and the possible onset of chronic problems.

Reproductive health continues to develop with the older adult as both hormonal and family relationship changes evolve. PAHO has identified that there are different definitions of reproductive health being used in the countries. Reproductive health continues to be seen by some as referring only to contraceptive or family planning activities. Others have expanded their vision to include newer concepts, such as sexual education, and have begun to develop strategies based on population and sustainable human development aspects. Still others think in terms of a bundle of services, often responding to vertical programs and donor-driven. The presence of different concepts allows confusion, atomizes efforts, and impedes progress.

In its work with the countries, PAHO has been developing the vision which sustains that reproductive health is one of the fundamental elements of human development and as such forms

a principal axis for health promotion and protection. It is recognized as a socially constructed concept with important ties to each person's identity and culture. The broad scope of reproductive health from individual to population implications and the importance which reproductive health plays in the health and progress of nations make it imperative that governments take a leading role in the protection of human rights and in setting the agenda for policy and program development in order to guarantee equity and quality.

#### 2.2 A Review of Related Health Statistics

The insufficient economic growth, social inequities, and marginalization of certain sectors of the population in many countries of the Region have resulted in unemployment and poverty, as well as other social ills such as low educational levels and unhealthy lifestyles. It is estimated that in 1994, in the subregion comprised by Latin America and the Caribbean, 209 million people were in a state of poverty; of those, 98.3 million were indigent. Further inequities can be seen if a geographic breakdown is done, with 135 million poor in urban areas and 73.9 million pertaining to the rural communities (14).

Poverty and education have evidenced their importance in contributing to health. As educational levels increase, women increase their contributions to the economic base of the family. Many choose to plan their families and offer more opportunities to fewer children. Increased educational levels are sought for the children, thus contributing to the overall development potential of both family and country. Increased economic opportunities and educational levels have long been known to correlate directly, not only with health status but also with access to and utilization of services.

The growth of population in many countries compounds economic dilemmas as new generations join populations where the economic sustainability of policies is already strained. It is estimated that for 1998 the total population of the Region will be 803 million, with 15 million births annually. A declining tendency in the regional birth rate is observed, due to increasing availability and use of contraceptive methods over the past 25 years; however, the total population is expected to continue to increase through 2002. The June 1997 evaluation of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development cited the decrease in fertility rates and population growth as one of the successes in promoting sustainable development of the planet (2, 4).

Fertility (number of children per woman) in the Region ranges from 1.6 (Cuba) to 4.8 (Guatemala). Overall contraceptive coverage is presently estimated at 64.7% of women of reproductive age (15-49 years) and in union (25). This data, however, presents a limited picture and masks many unknowns; for example, it is difficult to estimate real use and to know the rates of discontinuation due to planning on the part of the women involved, to supply failure, or to other reasons; it does not adequately portray male participation in contraception nor does it give a reliable picture of those who would like to use modern planning methods but whose access is limited. It is known that cultural and religious reasons often impede the decision to initiate or continue use of contraceptives. In spite of a number of specific studies examining the situation, the knowledge available has not evolved into actions which provide information and access to all

populations so that they may exercise their rights to self-determination.

Assuring a positive outcome for pregnant women has always been a large component of health services, and many models have been developed. Early initiation of prenatal attention, together with an efficient number of quality controls, is a tool to provide healthy outcomes for pregnancy. It has been well documented that the use of prenatal services is systematically associated with social class, with rural and urban residence, and especially with the mother's educational level. Once again the integral and reciprocal aspects of reproductive health and development are evidenced. In a study of 24 countries carried out in 1995, access and utilization of prenatal services in the countries of the Region ranged from 53% to 100% (25, 26). This information does not identify the timing nor the number of visits, important data in evaluating impact achieved.

Maternal mortality continues to be a serious problem in the Region, with 11 countries showing ratios higher than 100:100,000 live births. Maternal mortality is an important indicator of development that is often used as a proxy for the developmental state of a nation. In the Region, maternal mortality ratios vary from 2:100,000 in Canada to 1,000:100,000 in Haiti, demonstrating with painful clarity the prevailing inconsistencies in both development and equity. The principal causes—toxemia, hemorrhage, and infection—have maintained their status as leading killers for many years (25). These clinical diagnoses, however, hide problems such as malnutrition, lack of logistical supplies to provide adequate treatment for obstetric emergencies in remote areas, and in some cases inadequate quality of care. Maternal mortality affects the individual and the family (as children who survive births in which the mother dies are more likely not to survive their first year), and others are often robbed of their individual development potential as they are forced into caring for siblings. The economic potential of the families is also affected and, with that, their possibilities to contribute to the nation's growth. It is a problem which demands action.

A close relationship exists between skilled care at delivery and the levels of maternal mortality. The study cited previously indicated that 13 countries provided coverage of institutional delivery greater than 90%, while in four countries the coverage was below 50% (25).

An additional link between development and reproductive health is observed through an examination of cesarean section prevalence. Quality of services is often judged by examining the excess or default of cesarean sections performed. Some consider the excessive use of this technology an unsound medical practice and a violation of human rights. Interestingly, the incidence of cesarean sections also correlates with the level of instruction of the mother and urban or rural residence, demonstrating again the link with equity of opportunity. While approximately 12% to 20% of deliveries by cesarean section are considered within the range of normal, in Brazil 81.3% of women with more than 13 years of education had cesarean deliveries. In Colombia 20.7% of the urban deliveries versus 10.1% of the rural deliveries were by cesarean section (22, 25). Although other factors such as the different levels of sophistication of the health services are involved, it is important to note that the opportunities, while available for some unnecessary situations, are unavailable when necessary for others.

There are very few studies on maternal morbidity. Based on the results of some studies of incidence by specific cause gathered by WHO and PAHO in the Region of the Americas, it has been calculated that there is approximately one episode of illness occurs annually for every three pregnancies, amounting to approximately four million occurrences. While this number is impressive, it not only reflects an unmet need for services but it is probably a low estimate of the problem, since it does not account for the illness or disabilities that many women suffer as sequelae of their pregnancies. Empirically, it is known that morbidity caused by pregnancy extends far beyond the pregnancy itself, causing lasting effects such as dental loss, incontinence, and osteoporosis as well as other often painful, incapacitating, socially unacceptable, and ostracizing problems.

Abuse and sexual violence have recently been recognized as reproductive health problems. They cause emotional and behavioral problems and complicated deliveries, as well as other types of maternal morbidity and reproductive mortality. They affect the quality of life of the affected individuals and their families. This problem, due to its recognized gravity, has been receiving attention lately, although its identification as a serious public health problem is still incipient and its recognition as a social problem even more so. They are closely associated with other risk behaviors. Some of the related problems include a parallel between sexual abuse and early initiation of sexual activity, the inability to distinguish between affective and sexual behavior, a lasting and overwhelming sensation of vulnerability, and the inability to say "no" to sexual relations or drugs or to practice protective behavior, such as the use of condoms as double protection against unwanted pregnancy and sexually transmitted diseases including HIVAIDS. The phenomenon can affect an individual's ability to enjoy healthy sexual and reproductive relations, an effect which has been documented in different populations such as the Aymara women in Bolivia, who identified sexual coercion as a force which shaped their sexual and reproductive lives (11, 27). Increase of risk behavior during adolescence for both sexes and early pregnancy have also been identified as correlated with sexual violence.

The personal, family, economic, and social costs of abortion in this Region are as yet unknown, but the available research has evidenced the need to give the topic public visibility in order to stop related clandestine and unsafe practices. It is known that in some countries maternal mortality is significantly increased by unsafe abortion practices. In a 1994 meeting, parliamentary representatives from five countries of the Americas supported placing the topic on the agenda of the Latin American Parliament in light of its importance to the health and development of the Region's populations.

There are areas covered by the expanded definition of reproductive health which are as yet unstudied. The introduction of sexual education, for example, as well as the results of efforts to strengthen women's empowerment towards promoting reproductive health, is unknown. In some countries the incorporation of sexual education into the general education curriculum has been mandated; while this is generally seen as a positive development, there are concerns. Provision for adequate training of the responsible teachers to be able to deal with sensitive topics is sometimes questionable, the involvement of parents is not consistent, and there is often little or no relationship with the health sector so as to facilitate the student's knowledge of available resources.

Many of the health services related to reproductive health have followed traditional designs for service delivery. This has resulted in atomized vertical programs which do not facilitate an integrated approach to the biopsychosocial person.

To implement the new vision of reproductive health based on human development and social responsibility, it is clear that changes are necessary. There should be options for self-determination, and different approaches need to be studied. State-of-the-art research findings and implications are necessary elements to direct energy and resources in the search for solutions. Concrete plans and programs must be evolved which, while taking advantage of the opportunities provided by health sector reform, allow the countries to find more equitable, humane approaches to promoting reproductive health of their populations and, in so doing, stimulate the nation's development.

#### 3. The Role of PAHO

During the time in which it has been involved in reproductive health activities, PAHO has participated in a number of international conferences and in the development of documents and strategies to move the agenda forward. In recent history, there are four key documents which characterize the participation of PAHO in this area. In 1984, the bases for population policy were established. In 1990 the Regional Plan for the Reduction of Maternal Mortality and in 1993 the Policy for Family Planning, Reproductive Health, and Population were approved by the Directing Council. In 1995, a document on population and reproductive health was approved by the Executive Committee. This last document emphasized the ICPD definition of reproductive health and proposed that the strategies of women's empowerment, safe motherhood, and sexual and reproductive rights be utilized. It suggested that priority attention be given to adolescents and the management of abortion. It proposed an integral approach to the provision of services, including family planning, prenatal and delivery care, and prevention of sexually transmitted diseases.

In addition to its regular programmatic activities, PAHO has also sought extrabudgetary funds for activities in reproductive health which include safe motherhood, quality of care, management of reproductive health services, adolescent health care, reduction of maternal mortality, services for underprotected populations, policy and legislative development in reproductive health, male involvement in reproductive health, and improving the teaching of reproductive health in schools of health sciences, among others. In many of these activities PAHO has joined with other institutions such as the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), the U.S. Agency for International Development (AID), the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), and the World Bank to capitalize efforts. These experiences have provided many learning opportunities and have achieved successes, although sometimes limited in scale.

As the end of the twentieth century comes near and the five-year evaluation of the commitments made in Cairo at the International Conference on Population and Development is on the horizon, the topic of reproductive health is again being raised. The data demonstrate a continued need to give public attention to the unnecessary deaths and illnesses and to stimulate concrete actions to improve the situation. The threats of sexually transmitted diseases and

HIVAIDS are increasing. It is imperative that we seize the possibilities that the present moment offers to disseminate and discuss a new and integrated approach to reproductive health and to consider the concept as one which recognizes differences, respects the rights of all, and builds a learning process within the family, the reference group, culture, and society to promote human development and health for all.

PAHO has a key role in assisting the countries to search for answers to inequities and to overcome the difficulties in achieving a healthy state. Involvement in promoting reproductive health is important because:

- It is an essential part of health and human development which relates to PAHO's explicit mission, and it builds upon a long history of work with the countries in contributing to the health of mothers and children in the Region.
- It can bring about real changes in the health and well-being of children, adolescents, women, and men of the Region. Some of the potential benefits could be: fewer women dying in childbirth; a new generation of socially responsible adults; less cost to the system as a consequence of both sexually transmitted diseases and inadequate or inappropriate care; improvement in the quality of services; and the development of healthy habits as people become informed and are able to make free choices.
- PAHO's long tradition of cooperation in health with the countries positions it ideally to be a catalyst in promoting efforts to identify ways in which all countries can, within their own value systems, begin to work towards a more integral vision of reproductive health that promotes quality of life and sustainable development.
- PAHO, as part of the United Nations system, has a mandate to support and promote the decisions taken in the international forum. In this case, both WHO and PAHO have been strong in their support for the implementation of the relevant recommendations for reproductive health.
- PAHO is in a unique position to have a global view of the Region, to stimulate intercountry cooperation, and to disseminate successful experiences.

## 4. The Proposal for Change: Expected Results

PAHO believes that a concerted effort to improve reproductive health in the countries could have many positive effects:

- A clear policy and legislative guidelines that will provide guarantees for the reproductive rights of men, women, and children.
- Health care models which offer quality, appropriate attention, and, increasingly, access to the underserved, as well as meaningful, user-friendly services.
- A visible impact on the reproductive health of the population as evidenced by a reduction in the indices of prevalent health problems.

• A healthier, better informed and empowered public with choices as to how they will seek their own reproductive health while respecting the self-determination rights of others.

#### 5. Recommendations

In order to achieve this, each country is asked to consider the following menu of starting options and to commit to taking action on them:

- Recognize reproductive health as a cornerstone for human and social development, whose services in order to flourish and create a significant impact demand an intersectoral approach, as well as a basic structure of policies and legislation, management, and organizational supports and competent human resources equipped with a reflective attitude towards their practice.
- Review and reconfirm the commitments made in international forums regarding reproductive health and propose a concrete action plan congruent with those commitments while taking into account the values and feasibility of implementing changes in the configuration of its health policy and services.2
- Guarantee reproductive health rights through policy and legislative instruments, organizational models which reflect the new reproductive health paradigm, supervision, and the implementation of a quality assurance program.
- Recognize the importance of amplifying the scope of actors in moving towards an integral, cost-effective, and humane approach to reproductive health and embrace the participation of diverse groups in the promotion of reproductive health.
- Encourage the development of reliable and valid improved information systems for decision-making and effective strategy design in service delivery.
- Foster the development of focal groups to continue to develop both the concept and ways to encourage its operation, and to stimulate research in priority intersectoral areas which demonstrate the contribution of reproductive health to human development, such as cost-effectiveness training, the social costs of maternal morbidity and mortality, or determinants for decision-making in adolescents or underprivileged groups.
- Systematize and coordinate a communication plan which promotes reproductive health through all available communication means in order to reach all the different sectors of the population with appropriate, meaningful reproductive health messages.

## 6. Action Requested of the Subcommittee

The Subcommittee is requested to consider the present document and the state of reproductive health in the Region, and to guide PAHO on how the document might be improved, as well as on future activities.

## **Bibliography**

- 1. United Nations Population Fund. Programme of Action: International Conference on Population and Development. Cairo, Egypt: UNFPA, 1995.
- 2. Cairo, Beijing and Beyond. International Population Assistance News. November, 1997.
- 3. The World Bank. World Development Report 1991: The Challenge of Development. New York: Oxford University Press; 1991.
- 4. The World Bank. World Development Report 1993: Investing in Health. New York: Oxford University Press; 1993.
- 5. Barker C, Green A. Opening the Debate on DALYs. Health Policy and Planning. 1996; 11(2):179-183.
- 6. Berman P. Health Sector Reform: Making Health Development Sustainable. Health Policy. 1995; 32:13-28.
- 7. Grupo de Cartagena. Marco de referencia para la enseñanza de la salud reproductiva. Cartagena, Colombia: Pan American Health Organization; 1994. (HMP/GDR 4/94.4).
- 8. Eddy DM. Health System Reform: Will Controlling Costs Require Rationing Services? Journal of the American Medical Association. 27 July 1994, 272(4) 324-328.
- 9. Green A, Barker C. Priority-Setting and Economic Appraisal: Whose Priorities—The Community or the Economist? Social Science and Medicine. 1998; 26(9):919-929.
- 10. Green RH. Politics, Power, and Poverty: Health for All in 2000 in the Third World? Social Science and Medicine. 1991; 32(7):745-755.
- 11. Heise L, Moore K, Toubia N. Sexual Coercion and Reproductive Health. New York: The Population Council and Health and Development Policy Project; 1995.
- 12. Hisnanick JJ, Coddington DA. Measuring Human Betterment through Avoidable Mortality: A Case for Universal Health Care in the USA. Health Policy. 1995; 34:9-19.
- 13. Majeed FA, Chaturvedi N, Reading R, Ben-Shlomo Y. Monitoring and Promoting Equity in Primary and Secondary Care. British Medical Journal, 28 May 1994; 308:1426-1429.
- 14. Comisión Económica para América Latina y el Caribe. La brecha de la equidad. América Latina, el Caribe y la cumbre social. Santiago de Chile: CEPAL; 1997.
- 15. World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund. Alma-Ata 1978, Primary Health Care. Paper presented at the International Conference on Primary Heath Care, Alma-Ata, USSR.

- 16. World Health Organization. A Statement of Renewed Commitment to Health for All by the Year 2000 and Beyond. Riga, USSR: Geneva: WHO; 1988.
- 17. World Health Organization. Renewing the Health for All Strategy (pp.1-38). Geneva: WHO; 1995.
- 18. Pan American Health Organization. World Summits: Their Significance for Renewing the Commitment to Health for All. Washington DC: PAHO; 1996. Technical Report PAHO/DAP/96.4.22.
- 19. World Health Organization. Indicators to Monitor Maternal Health Goals. Report of a technical Working Group. Geneva: WHO; 8-12 November 1993. Maternal Health and Safe Motherhood Unit. WHO/FHE/MSM/94.14.
- 20. World Health Organization; and United Nations Children's Fund. Revised 1990 Estimates of Maternal Mortality. Geneva/New York: WHO; 1996. (WHO/FRH/MSM/96.11UNICEF/PLN/96.1).
- 21. Pilon AF. Health for All by the Year 2000—Cultural Handicaps and Possible Solutions. International Quarterly of Community Health Education. 1990; 11(1):79-83.
- 22. Profamilia, International, M. Encuesta Demográfica y Salud de Colombia. Santa Fe de Bogota; 1996.
- 23. United Nations Development Program. Human Development Report 1990. New York: Oxford University Press; 1990.
- 24. Rodriguez-Garcia R, Macinko J, Smith S, Schwetheim B. The Health-Development Link: Microenterprise Development for Better Health Outcomes. International Affairs Review. 1996; V (2, Summer):96-112.
- 25. Pan American Health Organization. Evaluation of the Regional Plan of Action for the Reduction of Maternal Morbidity. Washington DC: PAHO; 1996.
- 26. Taylor CE. Surveillance for Equity in Primary Health Care: Policy Implications from International Experience. International Journal of Epidemiology. 1992; 21(6):1043-1050.
- 27. Tudiver F, Bass M, Dunn E, Norton P, Stewart M (eds.). Assessing Interventions, Traditions and Innovative Methods. Newbury Park CA: Sage Publications, Inc.; 1992.